
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU on Tuesday, 31 January 2023 at 7.30 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public.  

 

5. Arts & Cultural Strategy Update  (Pages 9 - 22) 

6. Cascades Leisure Centre - Consultation Process for New Leisure Centre - 
Information Report  

(Pages 23 - 28) 

7. Domestic Violence Against Women & Girls Abuse Strategy  (Pages 29 - 42) 

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 

9. Exclusion   



 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private 

 

 

10. Community Safety Partnership – Draft Strategic Assessment 2022 - 
Summary of Key Findings  

(Pages 43 - 56) 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Helen Ashenden 

Ejaz Aslam 
Gurjit Kaur Bains 
Harold Craske 
Aaron Elliott 
Nirmal Khabra 
Emma Morley 
Christina Rolles 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 



1 

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 
 

Thursday, 10 November 2022                     7.30 pm 
 

Present: 
 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 

 
Councillors: 

 

 

Helen Ashenden 
Derek Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 

Harold Craske 
Aaron Elliott 
Nirmal Khabra 
Lyn Milner 

Emma Morley 
Christina Rolles 
 

Jamie Izzard Director (Communities) 
Simon Hookway 
Anita Tysoe 

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) 

Sean Steer 
Danielle Lock 
Kirsty Gaunt 

Community Safety Operations Manager 
Leisure Manager 
Community Engagement Officer 

Chloe Taylor Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
 

 

10. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurjit Bains and Cllr Tony Rana. Cllr Derek 
Ashenden and Cllr Lyn Milner substituted respectively. 
 

11. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee held on 
Wednesday, 01 June 2022 were agreed and signed by the Chair. 
 

12. Declarations of Interest  
 
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox declared an interest in the items listed on the agenda as he is a 
Council appointee on Gravesham Community Leisure Limited (GCLL) and The Gr@nd CIC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 10.11.2022 

2 

13. Council's Events Programme 2022 and future events in 2022/23  
 
The Leisure Manager presented Members of the Committee with a report detailing an 
overview of the council’s events programme during 2022 and the planning for future events 
in 2022/23.  
 
After presenting the committee with a short video that showcased the Riverside Festival that 
took place on 30 July 2022, the Leisure Manager outlined the following: 
 

 Since the report was produced in September, some future events had since passed 

 The Fireworks that took place on 03 November 2022, despite some pushback on the 
change to a Thursday, was positively received, with approximately 7,000 attendees. 

 Members were provided with a hand-out that detailed the attendance for the summer 
fun programme, where numbers indicated levels higher than those pre pandemic. 

 The outdoor cinema generated between 800 and 1,000 attendees.  

 Officers had received very positive feedback from residents regarding the 
accessibility of free events, especially given the current economic climate, and how 
they benefitted members of the community. 

 At the time the report was written, an application for funds had been submitted to Arts 
Council England for the Winter Lights Festival. Confirmation had since been received 
for match funding, meaning the event would be held for a second year, bigger and 
better than before. They aim to make the events as inclusive as possible, looking into 
options for live streaming the event, and encouraging residents to make lanterns at 
home, and working with local schools. 

 
Members thanked officers for their efforts in getting community events back out for residents 
following the pandemic. 
 
Overwhelming feedback was received following the Eid prayers held in Fort Gardens. 
Thanks was given to the Council for helping to facilitate the event.  
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

14. Community Engagement Strategy Action Plan Update  
 
The Community Involvement Officer presented Members of the Committee with a report 
updating them on the progress against the Community Engagement Strategy, and explained 
the following: 
 

 They were half way through the three-year cycle for the Strategy 

 Since covid restrictions had been lifted, more community engagement has been done 
in person in partnership with other teams and departments across the council. 

 They were working with Kent Partners in order to get the voice of Gravesham further 
and to access better resources for the community. 

 
On Friday 02 December, the Gravesham Access Group was holding the first event in 
recognition of Disability Awareness Day 2022. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 10.11.2022 

3 

15. Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy Update  
 
The Community Safety Operations Manager presented Members of the Committee with an 
update on the progress with the Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) Strategy since the 
last update in June 2021, and highlighted the following key points: 
 

 They had increased their number of Street Champions, with 458 volunteers. 

 They had also increased the number of adopted streets. To date, 311 have been 
adopted. 

 Out of 603 reports made regarding abandoned vehicles, 30 were removed. 

 Housing Services upgraded and expanded their CCTV cameras to cover key areas. 

 Residents can report cases of homelessness through Streetlink, and a Homeless 
Team and Officer will attend. 

 8 premises issued closure notices due to the sale of illegal tobacco. 

 They were on Phase One of a new Anti-Social Database, where information would 
be held. 

 They were looking to build a similar style database for Graffiti offences. 

 The introduction of a seasonal safety shop was a success, as was the Anti-Social 
Awareness Week. Another seasonal safety shop was due to take place 05 – 10 
December 2022 in a unit at the western entrance to St George’s Centre. 

 
Following questions and comments from Members, the Community Safety Operations 
Manager explained that: 
 

 In public spaces, the Waste Management Team were responsible for clearing graffiti. 
However, on private sites, clearance needs to be given from the site owner for Waste 
Management to go in and clear any graffiti. 

 Members would be informed of the rules regarding private ownership and the rules 
and regulations around street art as part of planning permission. 

 Broken lights can be reported on Kent County Council’s (KCCs) website via a form. 
There was also a map which detailed what reports had already been filed and what 
action was being taken in relation to that report. Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) 
has an arrangement with KCC on the maintenance of street lights. 

 There were plans to upgrade some of the current heritage lighting as part of the 
Safety Street Project. 

 The Community Safety Team at GBC have a good working relationship with Kent 
Police. 

 Officers could speak to KCC regarding putting stickers on lights to notify residents of 
who to contact if the light was not working. 

 Following an incident in Riverview Park, Gravesend, the council plan to work with 
police in advance of Halloween 2023 to prevent such incidents from happening. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 

16. Tackling Domestic Abuse and Violence Against Women and Girls  
 
The Chair informed Members that this was the beginning stages of the strategic approach, 
and gave them the opportunity to raise topics and to influence the report. 
 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 10.11.2022 

4 

The Community Safety Operations Manager presented Members of the Committee with a 
report that outlined the Council’s priorities for discussion, and outlined the following: 
 

 Under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, more responsibility was placed on Local 
Authorities. 

 Recorded offences of Domestic Abuse have increased by 9%, making it one of the 
highest in the County. However, this increase could be due to GBC taking a more 
proactive approach, with more people reporting incidences of Domestic Violence. 

 GBC have done a considerable amount of campaigning, such as the White Ribbon 
event and 16 Days of Action. 

 40% of harassment and stalking incidents were online. 

 Another 16 Days of Action was due to start on Friday 25 November 2022. 
 
Following comments and questions from Members, the Community Safety Operations 
Manager explained that: 
 

 Officers will feedback to Kent Police following an event that was held at Northfleet 
School for Girls, where some concerns were raised regarding location and 
accessibility. 
 

Members raised that the domestic abuse issue was universal and acknowledged the 
importance in tackling it together. The importance of reaching out to different faith groups 
and charities was discussed, with Members highlighting the importance of tackling Domestic 
Violence without any cultural barriers. 
 
Officers will feedback to the relevant persons regarding communications with faith groups to 
hold workshops and events. Members discussed the importance of tackling Domestic Abuse 
in its entirety. Where possible, Members were encouraged to sign up and become White 
Ribbon Ambassadors. 
 
It was raised whether schools and nurseries could be involved in the campaign to 
incorporate a wider message. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

17. Corporate Register of Partnership – July 2022  
 
The Assistant Director (Communities) and the Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural 
Services) presented Members of the Committee with a report that informed Members of the 
Council’s involvement in partnerships that were within the remit of the committee. The 
following points were highlighted:  
 

 The council had a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working 
Arrangements which provided a central record of partnerships in which the council 
was involved. 

 One of the partnerships came to an end in December 2021 and hence has been 
removed from the register. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 10.11.2022 

5 

18. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2022-23  
 
The Committee agreed to discuss items 10 and 11 alongside one another as the Quarter 
One Performance Update was deferred from the cancelled meeting on Tuesday 13 
September 2022. 
 
The Assistant Director (Communities) presented Members of the Committee with two reports 
detailing the Corporate Performance Update for Quarter One (April to June) and Quarter 
Two (July to September). The following was discussed: 
 

 They had received funding around creating safer streets and community safety 
activities. 

 Regarding PI 13, they had seen an increase in activity in both Q1 and Q2. However, 
it was worth noting that many protracted investigations take place for months, which 
in turn makes the figures appear higher in certain quarters. 

 Figures for PI 37, in reference to the leisure offers, were lower than those pre 
pandemic, but swimming at Cascades did extremely well over the summer, 
outperforming 2019. 

 PI 34 was an annual indicator and will be considered in Q4. Members were informed 
that Steve Wren has replaced Rob Swain (Managing Director of GCLL). 

 The Gr@nd had moved locations and participant numbers were rising closer to pre-
pandemic levels. 

 PI 41 was annually reported, and figures would be presented in Q4. 

 The figures shown in PI 42 had increased in terms of footfall. 

 Members were informed that the Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) 
was looking at developing a way to present a ‘What’s On’ at the Art Centre. 

 The Arts Centre had received preliminary feedback which showed they had gotten 
over 10,000 visitors since the centre opened on Saturday 11 December 2021. 

 Positive feedback was received from The Posh Club Tea Party, and residents had 
asked for this event to be repeated. The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural 
Services) noted this feedback and advised they would see if they could get this re-
programmed. 

 The Service Manager agreed to look into the tuning of the piano in The Woodville.  
The lunchtime concerts were well received. 

 Members asked what was being done to increase footfall in the Market. The Director 
(Communities) explained that a visit had taken place in the Market to share with the 
traders the council’s aspirations. They had lost some traders, meaning one end of the 
market contained only empty units, which they intend to keep vacant for now. A good 
programme of Christmas events was scheduled to increase footfall. The council 
intend to keep the market under their ownership, but welcome partnership ideas to 
reinvent the culture of the current market. 

 Opening times in the market had already been extended in conjunction with the 
traders to offer later trading on Fridays and Saturdays, but further extension would be 
considered in the new model. 

 PI 44, regarding visitors attending heritage sites, was an annual indicator and would 
be considered in Q4. 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 
 

Page 7



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 10.11.2022 

6 

19. Corporate Performance Report: Q2 2022-23  
 
See minutes above relating to this item. 
 

20. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is of 
 the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  
 
Cllr Ejaz Aslam, with permission from the Chair, requested to raise any other business in 
relation to Cascades Leisure Centre as he felt the Committee should have received an 
update on the progress of the project. The chair agreed to consider this item under any other 
business, however due to commercial information that needed to remain confidential at this 
stage, the Committee agreed for this item to be discussed in Part B. 
 

21. Exclusion  
 
Resolved that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that the 
public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in view of the 
nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were present during the 
item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information. 
 

22. Cascades Leisure Centre  
 
With agreement from the Chair, Cllr Aslam requested an update on the Cascades Leisure 
Centre Project, and raised the following topics: 
 

 Maintenance and future plans for Cygnets 

 Financial Implications for Cascades 

 The impact inflation and material costs were having on the progress of the project 
 
Members held a robust decision and had their questions answered by the Chair and the 
Director (Communities). 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 21:28pm 
 
 

Page 8



 

Classification: P 

Key Decision: NO 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to:  Communities and Leisure Committee  

Date: 31st January 2023 

Reporting officer: Cultural Manager 

Subject: Arts and Culture Update 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This is an information paper reflecting the work of the Arts and Culture team in 22/23 and 
outlining the plans and aspirations for 23/24 

Recommendations: 

1. That this paper is recognised as a reflection of the activity that has taken place and 
that the plans and action for 23/24 are approved. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no legal implications in this report 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The arts and culture activity and that which is planned is met 
through existing budgets.  

Corporate Plan Commitment to Place – enhancing the cultural offer 

Climate Change  The Cultural Strategy and Action plan supports the climate change 
agenda through developing alternative platforms for delivery and 
by putting sustainability and climate criteria in the forefront of our 
activity both in house and supported. 

 
 

1. Context and Reflection  

1.1 The plans for 22/23 were agreed in November 2021 and have delivered on our 
aspirations based on our Cultural Strategy which identified the following priorities. 

1.1.1 Delivering a cultural and creative community 

1.1.2 Supporting and developing artists and creatives 

1.1.3 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

1.1.4 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage 

1.1.5 Developing our children and young people creatively. 

1.2 Each priority has identified activities and outcomes that reflect our aspirations over 
the next 5 years. 

1.3 The complete Arts and Culture team has been in place since July 2022 and has 
delivered across all priority areas in our strategy as we have emerged from the 
pandemic.  

1.4 In the course of 2022 our community engagement through performances, 
workshops and exhibitions has brought in strong audiences for workshops 
averaging max capacity of 10 for 42 workshops in the year to date. In addition we 
delivered 33 workshops over the course of December as part of the Christmas 
programme ‘Do We Know Their Christmas’.  

1.5 In addition to the programme delivery we have secured regular hires in St 
George’s Arts Centre, including Reeves Café in Unit 20 and regular bookings from 
KAB and Involve Kent. 

1.6 Highlights of the delivery for 22/23 are identified below:- 

1.6.1 Delivering a cultural and creative community 

1.6.1.1 We have established strong links with Economic Development 
and Regeneration resulting in very positive work with external 
bodies to support creative workspace in Gravesham 

1.6.1.2 Opening of St George’s Arts Centre with a full programme of 
events from community hires to national touring exhibitions. The 
Centre has attracted over 12000 visitors in its first year of 
opening. 

1.6.1.3 Full programme of workshops at St George’s Arts Centre, not 
exclusively in house activity for example the KAB are running 3 
sessions a month and Involve Kent are running weekly arts 
sessions. In addition artists are regularly hiring the space to run 
their own workshops. 

1.6.1.4 Supporting the Ship and Shore programme with LV21 ensuring 
greater creative use of St Andrew’s Arts Centre for performance 
based activity. 

1.6.1.5 Partnering with other creatives to bring high quality work to the 
borough – eg Matthew Bourne’s New Adventures visiting over 12 
spaces to perform to isolated audiences in all parts of the 
borough. 

1.6.2 Supporting and Developing Artists and Creatives 

1.6.2.1 Matched funding of projects at £16300 has resulted in funding 
coming into the borough of £143402 for a variety of projects, 
including music tuition for pre school age children, multiple artist 
residencies in St Andrew’s Arts Centre as part of the above 
mentioned Ship and Shore project, and a new immersive piece of 
theatre that will be performed in multiple spaces in 2023. 

Page 10



3 

1.6.2.2 Establishing an Artist Residency in St George’s Arts Centre, 
which is bringing income and added value through workshops and 
greater network potential 

1.6.2.3 Enhancing support of local networks to develop confidence for 
applying for funding from other sources. 

1.6.2.4 Supporting the Gravesham Arts Salon network of creative 
practitioners in the delivery of projects in conjunction with the 
Council  

1.6.3 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme. 

1.6.3.1 Support for Gravesham Fringe Festival which brought over 5000 
visitors into our venues for over 40 events for 10 days in June 
2022. 

1.6.3.2 Focus on diversity and reinforcing links with both local partners 
and forging links with partners for future projects. Working with 
Lyrici to produce a new piece of theatre and GTown to support 
their aspiration to develop their new writing for festivals. 

1.6.3.3 Strong workshop programme at St George’s Arts Centre, working 
with artist in residence as well as local practitioners to ensure that 
there is at least one adult and one young person’s workshop 
every month. 

1.6.4 Enhancing and Promoting our assets and heritage. 

1.6.4.1 Developing an in house show celebrating the 150 anniversary of 
St Andrew’s Arts Centre. 

1.6.4.2 Building exhibitions and activities around our assets. The Jubilee 
exhibition created entirely in house from our own collection; and 
outdoor theatre and comedy performances in the Fort Gardens. 

1.6.5 Developing our Young People Creatively. 

1.6.5.1 Active involvement in the creation of the Local Cultural Education 
Partnership and position on the steering group. This ambitious 
project is funded by Arts Council England and facilitated by Royal 
Opera House Bridge. 

1.6.5.2 Building learning opportunities into all our grant funding, both 
Make It Grants and matched funding. 

1.6.5.3 Active support of Creative Schools Network. 

2. Plans for 23/24 

2.1 The next year is a challenging one for the council and our community, the budget 
gap and the cost of living crisis is affecting all expenditure considerations. The 
Arts and Culture team aim to ensure that we can deliver on the priorities identified 
in the strategy in the most efficient way for both council and community.  

2.1.1 We will be focussing on our partnership work with other agencies to 
develop creative work hubs and making spaces. This aspect of our activity 

Page 11



4 

will encourage relocation, and the regeneration that supports, as well as 
greater scope for cultural activity for our residents. 

2.1.2 With budget pressures in mind we have successfully gained commitment 
from hirers of St George’s Arts Centre to rehire or continue their work in 
the centre including KAB, Involve and Reeves café. We are also actively 
promoting all our centres for hire, not only St George’s and St Andrew’s 
Arts centres but also The Blake Gallery in the Woodville. 

2.2 There is an action plan as an appendix to this report, however, the main areas of 
activity are outlined here, 

2.3 Delivering a cultural and creative community. 

2.3.1 Exploring other creative making spaces through work with partners. This is 
in addition to maximising the use of our existing spaces including St 
George’s Arts Centre, St Andrew’s Arts Centre and the Woodville. 

2.3.2 Ensure that we have a strong strategic based agenda of activity across all 
our centres and are using them to maximum efficiency. 

2.3.3 Identify ways that Arts and Culture can underpin the social prescribing 
agenda. 

2.3.4 Enter discussions with Artist in Residence to put a three year scheme in 
place with tangible outcomes. 

2.3.5 Explore the possibilities of a volunteer cohort across the whole 
department, building on the existing group at The Woodville. 

2.3.6 Ensure that all national partners are fully aware of our aspirations for the 
future and engage with them to secure future funding opportunities. 

2.4 Supporting and Developing Artists and Creatives. 

2.4.1 Actively increase match funding bids that chime with our strategy criteria; 
support artists to access ACE funding, and match funding those that are 
successful with the aim to make artists work sustainable. 

2.4.1.1 Emphasis will enable us to focus on enabling artists to deliver our 
priorities and ensuring that the budgets can be maximised. 

2.4.2 Support and organise funding surgeries for artists in the borough. 

2.4.3 Develop work stream with Tilbury to encourage cross river activity within 
the next 3 years starting with the Light Festival in 2023. 

2.4.4 Supporting developments to maximise creative spaces, resources and 
opportunities. 

2.4.5 Work with partners, eg Local Cultural Education Partnership, to ensure 
that Gravesham Artists are represented within the cultural directory. 

2.4.6 Support the development Gravesham Grapevine (through the GAS 
network) to become the cultural diary website for the Borough. 

2.5 Establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events programme. 

Page 12



5 

2.5.1 Three year application for Gravesham Fringe Festival and the Light 
Festival to establish annual festivals in the borough that can be 
sustainable. 

2.5.2 Work with music artists and venues to broaden the scope of this activity 
within the borough. 

2.5.3 Positively engage with more diverse groups to enhance and sustain their 
arts and culture work within the borough. 

2.5.4 Develop a digital programme to improve access and broaden the scope of 
activity. 

2.6 Enhancing and promoting our assets and heritage. 

2.6.1 Curation of exhibitions around specific artefacts in appropriate locations. 

2.6.2 Finalise the Discover Gravesham Website. 

2.6.3 Apply for funding to create a meaningful catalogue of artefacts and items. 

2.6.4 Create a digital presence based on the artefact and collections catalogue. 

2.6.5 Engage with local and national heritage groups and develop a programme 
across the heritage portfolio. 

2.7 Developing our children and young people creatively. 

2.7.1 Develop specific funding for young people up to the age of 25 through 
Shared Prosperity funding. 

2.7.2 Work with partners to develop and deliver the Local Cultural Education 
Partnership. 

2.7.3 Embed learning opportunities into funding and matched funding criteria. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 Arts and Culture Action Plan 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 A Creative Gravesham Arts and Culture Strategy 

Lead Officer:  Mandy Hare 

Email:  Mandy.hare@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment GBC has committed to the Cultural Strategy and this report reflects that strategy 
and the priorities identified. There is a risk that the aspirations identified in the 
strategy would not be met were this action plan not ratified. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

Page 13



6 

 a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

no 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

no 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

yes - enhanced partnership working built into the report 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The activity and performance programmes encourage engagement from the 
community and can reduce antisocial behaviours 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no specific digital and website implications, however consideration 
should be given to greater support for culture within the councils digital output 
including on the website 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no specific implications. 

 

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Priority Activity Outcomes 23.24 

Delivering a cultural 
and creative 
community 

Establishing an 
overarching recognition of 

the value of arts and 
culture in the borough 

throughout council policy 

Arts and culture embedded in council 
policies that inform future decisions on 

regeneration and place making 
 
 

Continuing work with Strategic 
Development to secure Arts and 

Culture in the fabric of the council’s 
future plans 

Recognising arts and culture as a way 
of bringing together and rebuilding 

communities 

Reaching out to partners throughout 
the borough and the sectors to ensure 

a varied and diverse programme 

Arts Partners are fully engaged with 
GBC culture to fulfil their potential 

Widen support through the match 
funding scheme 

 Developing a cluster of 
Make It Spaces 

Opening of St George’s Arts Centre 
 
 
 

Discussions with shopping centre, 
artists and council to develop pop up 
spaces for specific events eg Light 

Festival, Fringe etc 

Developing a programme in St 
Andrew’s Arts Centre 

Exploring funding for fit out for 
performance. 

----------------------------------- 
Exit strategy for the Ship and Shore 

programme. 

Develop a programme of workshops 
throughout the year in SAAC 

Identifying other ‘Make It Spaces 
throughout the borough 

 

Exploring other spaces through work 
with partners, Creative Estuary, 

Thames Estuary Production Corridor 
etc 

Maximising the use of existing spaces 
including St George’s Arts Centre, St 

Andrew’s Arts Centre and The 
Woodville 

Developing Gravesham Borough 
Market into a making space. 

Artists Co-operative in empty units for 
a meaningful amount of time. 

 Establishing an Artist in 
Residence Programme 

Three years of funded activity in St 
George’s Arts Centre 

Enter discussions with Artist in 
Residence to put a three year scheme 

in place with tangible outcomes 

P
age 15



 Developing the skills and 
diversity of our cultural 

workforce and that of our 
partners 

Establishing a programme with 
partners that grows the cultural sector 

exponentially 

Working with partners to ensure we 
are offering funding opportunities and 

advice across the sector 

Encouraging artists and arts 
organisations to relocate to Gravesham 

Continue conversations with Creative 
Estuary and Thames Estuary 
Production corridor to offer 

opportunities 

 Creating a volunteer 
network to support 
cultural events and 

activities and develop 
knowledge within the 

sector. 

Establishing Friends of St Andrew’s 
 
 
 
 

Explore the possibilities of a volunteer 
cohort across the whole department 
building on the exiting group at The 

Woodville. 

Working with existing volunteer groups 
within the heritage sector to enhance 

skills 

 Establish a new theatre 
space for Gravesham that 

is fit for purpose and 
provides a community hub 

for the borough 

New venue development – St George’s 
phase 2 

Ensure that all national partners are 
fully aware of our aspirations for the 

new building and engage with them to 
secure future funding opportunities. 

Support funding applications for LUF 

 Developing a cultural 
environment that is no 

longer solely dependent 
on and confined by 

access to buildings and 
venues 

‘comet’ workstream 
 
 
 
 
 

Further development of work with 
digital sector 

Enhancing our spaces to create a 
network of possible venues. 

Develop plans for St Andrew’s 
Gardens as well as the existing 

spaces. 

Explore other spaces for alternative 
events and activities including the 4th 

Plinth on the pier. Exploiting the Blake 
Gallery for more developmental use 

P
age 16



Supporting and 
developing artists and 

creatives 

Establishing a grant 
funding programme for 

local artists and creatives 
 
 

Strategic response to funding 
opportunities 

 

Actively increase match funding bids 
that chime with our strategy criteria. 

 New work made in the borough Support artists to access ACE funding 
and match fund those that are 

successful 

Clarity of vision from GBC Identify ways that Arts and Culture 
can underpin the social prescribing 

agenda 

Supporting local artists 
and organisations to 

leverage funding from 
national bodies to support 
work developed in and for 

Gravesham. 

Matched funding opportunities continuing 

Establish Gravesham as arts and 
cultural hub of North Kent 

Develop work stream with other 
partners. 

Work with Tilbury on Light Festival 
programme and further development 

in future years 

Working with our creative 
community to help 

freelance practitioners to 
grow their practise and 
take SME’s to the next 

level supporting 
sustainability. 

More creative businesses in 
Gravesham supporting the local 

economy and creating employment 
opportunities. 

Support Clubbs Yard development. 

Support other artists hubs 

Work with partners to establish new 
spaces 

Work with GAS on becoming a 
CIC/CIO within 5 years 

Creating an 
directory/website of 
assets, artists and 

creatives 

Clear direction for internal and external 
organisations to find out what is 
happening and what is planned 

Work with partners in LCEP to ensure 
that Gravesham Artists are 

represented and have access to 
directory 

 

Develop Gravesham Grapevine 
through GAS. 

P
age 17



Development of the live 
performance sector to be 

more flexible and 
responsive to change. 

Flexibility built into the new venue Ongoing work with digital partners 

 

Establishing a vibrant 
and aspirational arts 
and cultural events 

programme 

Building on existing 
programmes to establish 
an annual festival of arts 

and culture in the summer 
months 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Fringe Festival Three year application to establish 
annual festival 

Full outdoor programme using council 
venues 

Work with music venues to broaden 
the reach 

Accessing other funding 
streams to build resilience 

and sustainability 

Value for our residents Funding surgeries 

Robust programme that can withstand 
external pressures 

Funding opportunities to be explored 
and applied for 

Ensuring that the diversity 
that defines the borough 
is reflected in all activity. 

Genuinely diverse activity for residents Positive engagement with diverse 
groups with arts and culture focus 

including GTown and Lyrici 

Explore working with partners on 
larger events 

Encouraging and 
supporting the 

enthusiasm for accessing 
culture across new 

platforms to develop 
live/as live festivals. 

New opportunities to make and 
participate in arts activities 

Developing digital programme to 
improve access and broaden the 

scope of activity 

P
age 18



Creating a culture card 
offering residents access 

to cultural and artistic 
activity. 

Research and Development funding 
bid 

Applications for appropriate funding to 
be explored. 

Ensuring our events are 
working towards a low 

carbon borough 

Arts and cultural activity makes a 
positive contribution to the low carbon 

agenda 

Building in sustainability as a criteria 
for Make it Grants and matched 

funding applications. 

Enhancing and 
promoting our assets 

and heritage 

Embed creative delivery 
and learning opportunities 
into our open spaces and 

built heritage 

Regular activity in our heritage portfolio Engage with local heritage groups and 
develop a programme 

P
age 19



Volunteering opportunities in the 
heritage sites 

Explore the potential of a pool of 
heritage/cultural volunteers. 

Creating new ways to 
interpret our unique 

heritage 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Develop the Discover Gravesham 
website 

 
Internal catalogue of collection 

--------------------------------------------------- 
Apply for funding to create a 

meaningful catalogue of artefacts and 
items. 

---------------------------------------------------  
Finalising of new Discover 

Gravesham website 

Create exhibitions with our artefacts Curation of exhibitions around specific 
artefacts in appropriate locations 

Working with partners to fully 
understand the significance of our 
collection and the best way we can 

use it to engage with the community. 

Develop an annual series 
of events to showcase our 
heritage in a unique way 

Heritage Festival Establish funding sources to create 
living heritage 

P
age 20



Enabling our built heritage 
locations to enhance the 

visitor experience 

Volunteer Training Actively explore the volunteering 
opportunities within the sector 

Developing our 
children and young 
people creatively 

Develop a specific funding 
stream of grants for young 
people which can be used 
for matched funding from 

external organisations 
 

Young artists located in the borough Specific grant and exhibition 
programme for young people <25 with 

Shared Prosperity fund 

Ensure that we focus some of our 
grant funding towards supporting 

young artists to exhibit and produce 
work in the borough 

Working with youth 
groups to ensure that our 
young people are given 

the chance to work 
effectively within the 

creative sector. 

Training opportunities in the arts sector  

Advisory service for young people Work more closely with the Gr@nd 
and the LCEP to establish a panel of 
arts professionals who can mentor 
young people wishing to enter the 

sector. 

Working with schools and 
young people to develop 
artists in all genres for the 

future. 

New working practises in all areas Develop the Local Cultural Education 
Partnership 

Working with artists and 
creatives in the borough 

to develop an 
educational/learning offer. 

 
 

Opportunities for young people to gain 
employment in the creative industries 

Embed learning opportunities into 
funding and matched funding criteria 

Working with schools to 
enable all young people to 

experience live 
performance throughout 

our programmes and 
workshops. 

Live performance embedded in 
schools and colleges 

Work through LCEP and Creative 
Schools Network. 

P
age 21



   

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 22



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Report 

Date: 31 January 2023 

Reporting officer: Adrian Hickmott 

Subject: Consultation Process for New Leisure Centre – Information Report  

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee with an overview of the 
involvement of various stakeholders with regards to the new leisure centre development as 
well as the recent public consultation process.  

Recommendations: 

1. That Members note the recent public consultation process that was undertaken across 
October and November 2022 to support the recent planning application submission, as 
well as outlining other associated consultation processes that were put in place during the 
design and development phases of the scheme over several years.   

  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The approval and commissioning of building of a new leisure 
centre is an executive function for which the Cabinet have 
responsibility once the budget has been approved by the Council.  

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The financial considerations for the council are set out within the 
31 January 2022 Cabinet Report.   

Corporate Plan Our ambition is to deliver this new state-of-the-art building in line 
with the project vision and sustainability objectives and the 
Corporate Plan commitments - #2 Place.  

Climate Change  A decision to undertake this project will have a direct impact on 
the delivery of the council’s Climate Change Strategy.  This will 
contribute to Priority 1: GBC – the organisation and, specifically, 
the progression of plans to replace the largest energy-using 
operational assets of the council. In 2020-21 the council produced 
carbon emissions totalling 1,760.3 tCO2e. Of this, 255.4 tCO2e 
(15%) could be attributed to Cascades Leisure Centre. 

 
1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 A commitment to replace Cascades Leisure Centre and improve the Borough’s 
leisure offer derives from the 2019-2023 Corporate Plan.  Development of 
proposals for a new centre has been further influenced by a range of stakeholder 

Page 23 Agenda Item 6



2 

and community engagement processes, including consultation on the council’s 
Sport, Leisure and Active Recreation Strategy, additional studies and strategies. 

1.2 As part of this work and taking on board the information from the original Indoor 
Facilities Strategy and the updated feasibility work, a new design option at 
Cascades Leisure Centre was developed which offered an attractive, cohesive 
facility mix giving prominence to the core family focussed activities, competition 
usage capability and dedicated space for potential community health referral and 
consultation.  

1.3 This report gives an outline of the process so far with regards to engagement with 
stakeholders through the various stages. For information the planning submission 
includes a more detailed specified report on the recent formal consultation process 
that supports the recent application report, that covers in more detail the analytics of 
the survey as well as a summary of additional qualitative data and comments 
received. A hyperlink to this report can be found under section 5 below. 

2. Strategy Development and Engagement 

2.1 In 2015/16, the council embarked on the development of an Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation Strategy in partnership with Knight, Kavanagh & Page (KKP) as part of 
its Local Plan evidence base. The three components to this study included an 
Indoor Sports Facilities Strategy, Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy and an 
Open Space Strategy.  

2.2 The Indoor Sports Facilities Strategy is the first key document which highlighted the 
need to undertake a specific further piece of work looking into the future of 
Cascades and Cygnet leisure centres. This Strategy was supported by a range of 
stakeholder engagement meetings with organisations such as; local authority 
partners (e.g. GCLL) and key officers, national governing bodies of sport, local 
sports clubs in sports such as swimming, basketball, gymnastics, badminton, etc. 
as well as engagement with local secondary schools, health partners and key 
community groups. 

2.3 The level of engagement in developing the Indoor Sports Facilities Strategy was in 
line with other Local Plan evidence bases that we have delivered and was key in 
delivering a clear action plan for the Council.  

2.4       Following the original Strategy recommendations and Corporate Plan 
commitments, the Council engaged further with KKP in November 2020 to 
undertake a Feasibility Study on the potential of a new single leisure centre to 
replace Cascades Leisure Centre. Again, KKP engaged with a wide range of 
consultees with regards to this further study. 

2.5 The results of the Feasibility Study have ultimately led to the Council deciding to 
progress with the design development of a replacement facility and set a target of 
submitting a planning application by the end of November 2022.  This approach 
was supported by consultation on the council’s Sport, Leisure and Active 
Recreation Strategy earlier in 2022.  

3. Development of the Proposal and Facility Options 

3.1 The Council’s ambition to deliver a new state-of-the-art building, is in line with the 
project vision and sustainability objectives and Corporate Plan commitments.   

3.2 Key Corporate Plan commitments (adopted October 2019) include: 

Page 24



3 

 Design a quality and affordable leisure offer –improved facilities and creative 
sports programmes to tackle local health inequalities 

 Improve resident wellbeing – provide and preserve a suite of high-quality play 
areas and promote opportunities for active lives 

 Carbon neutral borough 

 Positively promote sustainable development 

3.3 Once the design team for developing the scheme was fully in place, several design 
meetings and workshops were organised in order to review the original Feasibility 
Study outline and consider the mix of facilities the new centre should provide. At 
this initial stage the core facility requirements as highlighted within the Study were 
identified as follows: 

 an eight-lane 25m swimming pool capable of hosting competitive swimming 

 a teaching pool and splash pad area to promote and support water confidence 
and learning to swim 

 a large sports hall able to support sports development activity 

 fitness suite and provision for studio space for class activity 

 community space 

 squash court provision 

 an active reception and café/Seating Area with soft play and clip and climb 
facilities 

 an outdoor active environment 

3.4 Proposals were then further developed to consider where facilities could be 
expanded or enhanced further (taking on board the capital and revenue implications 
for these options) including; the provision of a Health Suite facility on a separate 
floor, enhanced water space areas, such as a larger leisure pool area (incorporating 
the original splash pad space), plus enhanced permanent seating adjacent to the 
25m pool and seating within the sports hall area to support competitive events. 
Other options that were looked at were, additional squash courts which could be 
opened up into one large leisure space, as well as a climbing wall within the 
reception area and a larger soft play area and community room space. 

3.5 These proposals were also supplemented with updated financial operational 
information from the proposed new facility mix options from an affordability and 
ongoing revenue perspective, as well as ‘live intel’ from the existing leisure centres 
(particularly relevant following Covid-19 and the changes in usage and behaviours) 
and some further early feedback from the public on the proposals within the 
January 2022 Cabinet Report and facility make-up that was publicised at the time. 

3.6 For example, the original design did not include the fun elements such as water 
flumes and was based mainly on the desire for the leisure centre to be a regional 
competitive sports and leisure centre. The very clear public response was this was 
an unpopular decision and people wished to see the fun element included. As a 
direct result of that feedback, flumes and a larger children’s splash area now form 
part of the design, along with other more family orientated facilities that it became 
clear were desirable, alongside the ability to host regional competitive events. 

3.7 The proposed preferred scheme, with major amendments in bold, now includes; 

 A café/hub/reception zone 

 Soft play, clip and climb facilities, with additional café seating and associated 
party room area 

 Enhanced leisure water area with splash pad and associated internal 
flumes 

Page 25



4 

 25m - 8 lane swimming pool capable of hosting regional competitive 
swimming events, including timing room on poolside 

 17m x 7m adjacent learner/teaching pool, poolside steam and sauna 
rooms 

 100 permanent spectator seating/viewing area for the main pool 

 6 court sports hall for sports development and competitions with 
bleacher type seating 

 Large fitness suite, with 100+ stations   

 1 Spin studio, 2 fitness studios for class activity 

 Community space/rooms 

 2 Squash courts with removable middle wall for multi-functional activity 
area 

 An outdoor active environment with enhancements to existing surrounding 
open space.  

 
3.8 These amendments show that the views received through public and stakeholder 

engagement are being listened to and, whilst the focus is currently on replacement 
of the indoor leisure provision, views on the outdoor leisure provision are being 
collated to inform that future phase. 

4. Consultation 

4.1 From the moment the Council declared its intention to replace Cascades within the 
budget announcement in February 2020, we have engaged with the local 
community several times, have been speaking to existing leisure centre users, 
groups representing a variety of sports and local clubs, and governing bodies such 
as Sport England to ensure our starting point for the new centre was based on a 
sound understanding of what current and potential users would want to see 
included and how this could be future proofed. 

4.2 The formal public consultation last year was widely publicised and attracted almost 
700 responses, which compared to numbers responding to previous council 
consultations is a good response. This is in addition to the many social media 
comments received across a range of platforms and feedback via our media 
releases on the topic as it has progressed through each of its stages. 

4.3 The consultation exercise commenced on Monday 24 October 2022 and closed at 
midnight on Sunday 20 November 2022. This included a drop-in session for 
residents wishing to speak to someone from the design team on 8th November. An 
additional extension was put in place until midnight on Wednesday 23rd November 
to allow extra time for current Active Leisure members to respond to the survey.  

4.4 The Council launched the formal consultation process via a range of media outlets 
on and created a bespoke web page to promote the development. The Council’s 
Communications Manager also assisted with regular social media activity to 
maintain the knowledge and interest in the consultation process with local residents. 
Added to this, there was direct communication and sharing of consultation links with 
established groups and clubs in Gravesham, as well as a final ‘push’ in the last 
week of the consultation period. 

4.5 As mentioned earlier in the report, the full consultation report provided can be found 
as part of the publicly accessible planning submission pack for the development 
(link to report under section 5 below), but some general points to outline include the 
following; 

 In general, there is agreement about the mix of facilities and activity areas 
proposed for the site. 

Page 26



5 

 There were no statistically significant responses for facilities that were identified 
as missing from the facility mix. 

 It is clear from the responses that open space around the centre is high value. 

 The Council has a clear public mandate to provide a modern replacement 
leisure facility in Gravesend. 

 There is public consensus that this proposal is worthy of investing public funds 
to deliver. 
 

4.6 From the qualitative statements provided, analysis by the consultants identified that 
there were clusters of responses for facilities such as 50m pool, health suite, 
climbing wall, wave machine, slides, outdoor pool and petanque. However, there 
was no stand-out activity area or facility that was identified from the responses to 
the consultation survey that they believe give cause to the Council and its design 
team to reconsider the facility mix for the proposed new centre.  

4.7 There were a range of comments made within the survey (e.g. disabled access, 
leisure water, slides, fun activities for children, opportunity for something different, 
wheelchair access, netball provision, football facilities, dance floor, etc) which are 
already included in the facility site area and potentially need to be reinforced. 

4.8 This is especially true with regards to improvements around accessibility. For 
example, the building will be fully accessible (as required by DDA regulations) on 
both floors and the main pool will have steps, a submersible lift access and both 
pools will have powered self-controlled / powered pool pods to ensure dignified 
access for all. A changing village for the wet side area will have individual changing 
cubicles, as well as a specified ‘Changing Place’ facility/room for disabled people. 
There will also be two larger separated changing room areas within the changing 
village that can be utilised for specific requirements and sessions, bearing in mind 
that some user groups will not feel comfortable changing within a village 
environment.      

4.9 Respondents feel very positive about the proposal and the investment in facilities, 
but it will be important to ensure continuity for residents during the development 
period. This presents a key opportunity for the Council to develop an ongoing 
communication and public engagement strategy for the development of the new 
centre as it progresses to ensure that residents and perspective user groups are 
continually updated and informed about the development. 

5. Background Documents  

5.1 The publicly accessible Planning Application can be found here or via 
www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning/view-comment-planning-application - planning 
application reference 20221293. 

5.2 The Cascades Leisure Community Consultation report can be found here or within 
the list of supporting documents to the planning application above 

Lead Officer:  Jamie Izzard/Adrian Hickmott 

Email:  Adrian.hickmott@gravesham.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Page 27

https://plan.gravesham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=RM9FEAHP09P00&activeTab=summary
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning/view-comment-planning-application
https://docs.gravesham.gov.uk/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=782815C43A7C4BD495284FAEE6977755
mailto:Adrian.hickmott@gravesham.gov.uk


6 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Replacement of a leisure centre is a large project for a district council, so it is 
important that the necessary resources are dedicated to this project to ensure that 
all risks are covered.  The council does not have the necessary capacity or 
professional expertise in some of the areas required to deliver this complex and 
large-scale project.  

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Not applicable 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

As above.  

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder A new leisure centre will enable the principles of Designing Out Crime to be 
implemented.  

Digital and website 
implications 

Steps will be taken to promote progress with the scheme via the council’s website. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

Elements of the design for the new leisure centre will take account of safeguarding 
issues. 

 

Page 28

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Date: 31 January 2023 

Reporting officer: Domestic Abuse Coordinator/Community Safety Operations 
Manager 
 

Subject: Draft Violence Against Women and Girls & Domestic Abuse 
Strategy 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To report the council’s draft Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) and Domestic Abuse 
Strategy 2023-2026. The Strategy has been developed to ensure that the Authority is as 
effective as possible in addressing the challenges presented by VAWG and domestic abuse. 
It sets out the council’s priorities, providing a framework for addressing the over-arching 
objective of preventing VAWG and domestic abuse through support, engagement, 
partnership working and communication. 

Recommendations: 

(i) The Committee is asked to consider and comment on the content of the Strategy. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner 
agencies to address domestic abuse (Domestic Abuse Act 2021).   

Finance and Value for 
Money 

Any additional financial resources to enable the full delivery of the 
Violence against Women and Girls and Domestic Abuse Strategy 
will be identified as an action plan is developed.  Co-ordinating the 
way in which the Council works to tackle domestic abuse should 
mean that the council’s resources (staffing and other) are used 
more effectively, that support is provided earlier and ultimately, 
costs reduced by preventing problems from escalating.   The 
council is in receipt of £33,090 per annum for 2021/22 and 
2022/23 from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) for a Domestic Abuse Coordinator post 
which is with Dartford Council. 

Corporate Plan The Strategy contributes to the Corporate Plan objective: 
#1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, 
clean and attractive borough their home 

Climate Change  The action plan will take account of any implications of this work 
on the council’s climate change commitments. 

 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7



2 

 
1. VAWG & Domestic Abuse Strategy 

1.1 In 2022 the Government launched a new strategy to tackle domestic violence.   
The Tackling Domestic Abuse Plan sets out the Government’s approach to 
reducing the amount of domestic abuse, domestic homicide, and suicides linked 
to domestic abuse, by stopping people becoming perpetrators and victims to 
begin with.   

1.2 The implementation of Domestic Abuse Act has placed additional responsibilities 
on all Local Authorities. In Kent, Kent County Council (as the Tier 1 Authority in 
our area) has a primary duty to provide support to victims of domestic abuse and 
their children in refuges and in other safe accommodation and has also been 
required to establish a Domestic Abuse Partnership Board to coordinate domestic 
abuse activities across the county.   

1.3 As a Tier 2 Local Authority, Gravesham Borough Council is required to work in 
collaboration with Kent County Council and is represented and an active member 
of the Partnership Board.  This strategy sets out the Gravesham’s priorities and 
actions in playing its part to reduce the prevalence of Violence Against Women 
and Girls & Domestic Abuse.  As such is evidences the council’s commitment and 
statutory responsibilities and duties as a Tier 2 authority. 

1.4 As with national policies, prevention of people becoming perpetrators and victims 
is at the forefront of this strategy. 

1.5 Draft priorities were to the November 2022 meeting of this Committee.  They were 
presented at the Know, See, Speak Out - Be Domestic Abuse Aware conference, 
hosted by the council on 15 November 2022, and attendees and other partners, 
agencies and parties were asked to formally comment on them during 
November/December 2022.   

1.6 No requests to substantially amend these priorities have been received, but the 
discussions and activity during this period have been invaluable in the 
development of the strategy. 

2. Appendices 

2.1 Draft VAWG & Domestic Abuse Strategy  

3. Background Documents  

3.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  Jackie Hyland/Sean Steer 

Email:  jackie.hyland@gravesham.gov.uk; sean.steer@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 30



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Failure to effectively support victims of DA will reduce public confidence in the Local 
Authority’s ability to support individuals.  Responding to DA in an unstructured and 
disjointed way will serve to keep any positive impact at a minimum and makes 
improvements less sustainable long-term. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No  

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

NA 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No  

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

Yes – victims frequently turn to the local authority for support and advice.  
Improving services to respond to DA will make a positive contribution to quality 
of life.   

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder This strategy sets out the council’s priorities in respect of the objectives of the 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and accords with the council’s Safeguarding Policy. 

Digital and website 
implications 

Communications and Reassurance is a fundamental part of the proposed Strategy.  
It is anticipated that, subject to approval and the development of a supporting 
Action Plan, there will be a wish to increase the information, support and assistance 
available to people experiencing DA on the Council’s website. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies.  Victims of DA vulnerable to victimisation will receive 
more tailored support and assistance to protect them from future harm. 

 

Page 31

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) 
and Domestic Abuse Strategy - 2023-26 

 

FOREWORD – to be incorporated prior to finalising Strategy 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Domestic abuse is a crime that has devastating effects on individuals, families, children and 
communities.  It causes untold harm and suffering to victims and survivors, not just when 
domestic abuse occurs as experiences can stay with them for the rest of their lives. 

The Crime Survey for England and Wales (March 20221) estimated that 5.7% of adults aged 
16 to 59 years experienced domestic abuse.  Nationally, the Police recorded 909,504 
offences flagged as domestic abuse-related in the year ending March 2022.   This 
represented a 7.5% increase over 2021 (845,734 offences) and a 13.9% increase over 2020 
(798,607 offences).  This increase in police recorded domestic abuse-related offences 
during the Pandemic may also be in part due to the improvements that the police have made 
to record these offences, alongside actions to address domestic abuse.    

The Domestic Abuse Act was enacted in 2021 and in 2022 the Government launched its 
strategy to tackle domestic violence.   The Tackling Domestic Abuse Plan2 sets out the 
Government’s approach “to drive down the prevalence of domestic abuse and domestic 
homicide and provide victims and survivors with the support they need”.   

This strategy sets out the council’s responsibilities and actions in playing its part to reduce 
the prevalence of Domestic Abuse and, as with national policies, prevention of people 
becoming perpetrators and victims is at the forefront of this strategy.    

Gravesham Borough Council is committed to working collaboratively to meet its statutory 
duty and requirements as a Tier 2 Local Authority.  This strategy evidences how the council 
is doing that. 

ABOUT THIS STRATEGY  

This strategy sets out the vision, priorities and commitment of Gravesham Borough Council 
to prevent and reduce domestic abuse and ensure victims have the right support when 
required. 

Gravesham should be a place where there is zero tolerance to domestic abuse and where 
victims and survivors of domestic abuse receive support, feel safe and able to rebuild their 
lives.   

Our vision is to ensure appropriate safe accommodation support is available to all victims 
including their children.  We want domestic abuse to be identified earlier and prevented and 

                                                
1  Crime in England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 
 
2 Tackling Domestic Abuse Plan - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

Page 33

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2022#domestic-abuse-and-sexual-offences
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-domestic-abuse-plan


2 | P a g e  
 

as such this Domestic Abuse Strategy complements the Gravesham Community Safety 
Strategy3 which seeks to reduce crime in Gravesham. 

Gravesham Violence Against Women and Girls and Domestic Abuse Strategy 2023-2026 
outlines how we will work, together with partners, to prevent and tackle domestic abuse in 
achieving our strategic priorities of: 

 Victim Prevention and Early Intervention 
 

 Working in Partnership to tackle Domestic Abuse and VAWG 
 

 Education, Communication and Campaigning 
 

 Helping to Create Safe Public Environments 
 

 Preventing Offending and Re-offending 

DOMESTIC ABUSE 

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 defines behaviour as “abusive” if it consists of any of the 
following: 

 Physical or sexual abuse 

 Violent or threatening behaviour 

 Controlling or coercive behaviour 

 Economic abuse – means behaviour that has a substantial adverse effect on a 
person’s ability to use or maintain money or other property or obtain goods or services. 

 Psychological, emotional or other abuse; it does not matter whether the behaviour 
consists of a single incident or a course of conduct. 

Domestic abuse does not only happen in personal relationships between partners; it can occur 
if the people involved: 

 are, or have been, married to each other 

 are, or have been, civil partners to each other 

 have agreed to marry one another (whether or not the agreement has been terminated) 

 have entered into a civil partnership (whether or not the agreement has been 
terminated) 

 are, or have been, in a intimate personal relationship with each other 

 each have, or there has been a time when each have had, a parental relationship in 
relation to the same child  

  are relatives 

The definition of domestic abuse now includes a child (anyone under the age of 18 years) who 
sees, hears, or experiences the effects of, the abuse, and is related to either the victim or 
perpetrator as a victim of domestic abuse.  A child is related to a person if the person is a 
parent of, or has parental responsibility for, the child, and the child and the person are relatives. 

VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS 

Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) covers a range of unacceptable and deeply 
distressing crimes, including rape and other sexual offences, stalking, domestic abuse, 
‘honour’-based abuse (including female genital mutilation, forced marriage and ‘honour’ 
killings), ‘revenge porn’ and ‘upskirting’, as well as many others. These crimes 

                                                
3 Community Safety Strategy (gravesham.gov.uk) 

Page 34

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/152/community-safety-strategy-accessible-


3 | P a g e  
 

disproportionately affect women and girls. However, men and boys can also be victims of 
violence and abuse.   

These crimes and behaviours can affect victims of all ages, abilities, sexualities, and 
backgrounds. They take place in every locality across the UK and can happen within current 
or previous relationships, in families, and in communities.  

The Government updated its guidance in respect of expectations in respect of the 
commissioning of services to support victims and survivors of Violence Against Women and 
Girls in July 2022.  The National Statement can be found at Violence against women and 
girls national statement of expectations (accessible) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

LOCAL DUTY 

The Domestic Abuse Act 20214 gives police, local authorities, and the courts wider powers and 
greater accountability concerning protecting domestic abuse victims. 

Kent County Council, as a Tier 1 local authority, has the primary duty to provide domestic 
abuse support to meet the needs of survivors and their children in safe accommodation. 
Safe accommodation includes refuge, dispersed accommodation, sanctuary schemes 
(security provision within a survivor’s home or move on accommodation. 

Tier 1 local authorities also have a statutory duty to establish a local partnership board to 
coordinate activities to prevent and respond to domestic abuse.  This board has 
responsibility for conducting a needs assessment (forming a gap analysis on safe 
accommodation support). 

Tier 1 authorities are required to undertake commissioning activity in relation to 
accommodation-based services for adult survivors and their children. 

Part 4 of the Domestic Abuse Act gives Tier 1 authorities statutory requirements linked to 
support within safe accommodation services, which are defined as refuge (communal and 
individual placements), sanctuary (security measures within existing homes), and move on 
accommodation (as people move out of refuge or other safe accommodation into longer 
term homes). The Act gives Tier 2 authorities the duty to support this work. 

Gravesham Borough Council, as a Tier 2 Local Authority, has the duty to collaborate with 
Kent County Council in fulfilling its responsibilities related to domestic abuse victims and is 
represented on and is an active member of the Kent & Medway Domestic Abuse Partnership 
Board.  This strategy and the priorities set out in this document evidences how the council is 
doing that. 

In fulfilling its statutory duties as a Tier 1 local authority, Kent County Council has also: 

 Assessed the need and demand for accommodation-based support for all victims 
and their children, including those who require cross-border support. 

 Carried out a needs assessment with regards to support in safe accommodation 

 Developed and published a Domestic Abuse Strategy for the provision of support. 
 

                                                
4 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/violence-against-women-and-girls-national-statement-of-expectations-and-commissioning-toolkit/violence-against-women-and-girls-national-statement-of-expectations-accessible
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/violence-against-women-and-girls-national-statement-of-expectations-and-commissioning-toolkit/violence-against-women-and-girls-national-statement-of-expectations-accessible
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/community-safety-and-crime-policies/domestic-abuse-strategy
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


4 | P a g e  
 

 

Local Actions to Reduce VAWG and Domestic Abuse 

Domestic abuse is a major issue in Gravesham affecting many people.  However, many 
incidents of domestic abuse go unreported to Kent Police and people do not seek help as 
they are too frightened of the consequences or lack awareness of support available to them. 

Gravesham has made considerable efforts to reduce Domestic Abuse and to raise 
awareness of its prevalence, impacts and of the support that is available to victims and 
survivors: 

Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator - appointed to lead on Domestic Abuse, specifically 
associated housing and safeguarding issues, including working towards membership of the 
Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance.  The Co-ordinator is developing this strategy, including 
policies, communication campaigns and training.  This is a 2-year post, supported jointly by 
Gravesham and Dartford Borough Councils, and funded by the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC). 

Muti-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) – meets regularly to share information 
on the highest risk Domestic Abuse cases in Gravesham.  The MARAC comprises 
representatives of Kent Police, health, child protection, council community safety and 
housing officers, Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs), probation and other 

THE LOCAL PICTURE 

Reported Domestic Abuse in Gravesham 

Following significant increases in reports of domestic abuse after each of the lockdown 
periods came to an end during the pandemic, most areas have begun to see a reduction in 
the number of reports being made (Kent Police figure 1).  However, in the year ending 30 
September 2022, Gravesham recorded the greatest percentage increase in domestic abuse 
offences (9.9%) in contrast to an average reduction recorded countywide of 2.2%.  The rate 
of offences per 1,000 population in Gravesham is 37.8 offences and the third highest rate in 
the county.   

Figure 1: Domestic Abuse 

 
Area 

Oct 20- 
Sept 21 

Oct 21- 
Sept 22 

% 
Change 

Per 1,000 
popn. 

Gravesham 3,675 4,038 9.9 37.8 
 

Violent Crime data (Kent Police) shows that stalking and harassment offences have 
continued to reduce after significant increases early in the pandemic. However, these 
offences still account for almost a third of all offences within the violence against the person 
category, notwithstanding that most of this activity is online/cyberstalking.  

The number of sexual offences remains small, however, there has been an increase of 
almost 11.3%.  It is possible that this is due to a small number of cases each involving 
multiple victims/repeat victims and the recording of historical incidents.  

Figure 2: Stalking and harassment 

 
Offence category 

Oct 20- 
Sept 21 

Oct 21- 
Sep 22 

No. 
change 

% 
change 

Stalking and harassment 1,795 1,630 -165 -9.2 
 

Page 36



5 | P a g e  
 

specialists from the statutory and voluntary sectors.  The Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator is 
one of the independent Chairs of the Gravesham MARAC. 

Domestic Abuse One Stop Shop - a drop-in (no appointment required) session 
recommenced in September 2022 and is held weekly on Thursdays (09.30am to 12.00pm).  
Free advice, information and support is available from a range of agencies to help victims of 
domestic abuse.   This person centred approach provides an opportunity to encourage 
reporting by both victims themselves and concerned third parties and also provide advice 
and information.    

White Ribbon Ambassadors & Champions - Gravesham Borough Council was accredited in 
2021.   The White Ribbon charity engages men and boys to end violence against women 
and girls.  The aim is to change long established, and harmful attitudes, systems and 
behaviours around masculinity that perpetuate gender inequality and men’s violence against 
women.   https://www.whiteribbon.org.uk/.   The council’s White Ribbon Action Plan 
complements additional actions supported by the Domestic Abuse Strategy. 

Participation in the Kent & Medway 16 Days of Activism against gender-based violence held 
between 25 November 2022 and 10 December 2022.  This awareness raising campaign, via 
social media posts, posters at Network Rail Stations and webinars directed the public to 
Domestic Abuse services.   Stalking and Domestic Abuse leaflets were also distributed to 
local businesses, including nail bars, hair salons, library, gyms, supermarkets and faith 
centres, etc.  https://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/latest-news-articles-advice/16-
days/  

Community engagement – additional opportunities to encourage reporting by victims and 
concerned third parties by distributing information at community events and via social media 
platforms.  An increase in reporting in Gravesham may be because of the visible 
campaigning work that has been carried out in Gravesham in recent years. 

Kent High Priority Rehousing (Reciprocal) Scheme – the Kent Housing Group adopted this 
scheme in September 2021 to provide guidance and procedure for a voluntary reciprocal 
arrangement between the twelve Kent authorities, excluding Medway.  The aim of this 
scheme is to assist Local Housing Authorities to meet statutory homelessness duties to 
prevent and relieve homelessness. This scheme is used to assist in rehousing an applicant 
in another borough/district who is at risk of domestic abuse, violence or serious harm within 
the borough/district who owe the applicant a homelessness duty. 
 
 

SAFEGUARDING 

The Strategy acknowledges the overriding importance of safeguarding of both adults and 
children, especially as the impact on children can be extremely damaging.   It is therefore 
important to work closely with other agencies who may lead on support with those with 
vulnerabilities or disabilities. 

Domestic abuse may also co-exist with a range of complex issues such as mental health or 
substance misuse.   As a result, additional support may be required to address such needs 
and the Domestic Abuse Strategy is an important part of Gravesham’s response to 
safeguarding vulnerable persons.   

  

Page 37

https://www.whiteribbon.org.uk/
https://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/latest-news-articles-advice/16-days/
https://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/latest-news-articles-advice/16-days/


6 | P a g e  
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

Gravesham Council’s Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) and Domestic Abuse 
Strategy 2023-2026 is constructed around five key priorities.   These align with the 
Government’s Domestic Abuse Act and Violence Against Women and Girls strategies. 

 
Priority 1:  Victim Prevention and Early Intervention 
 

 Protecting victims from future harm by working with partners to identify secure ac-

commodation and provide victims and their children with support once accommo-

dated 

  

 Providing a Sanctuary Scheme for households at risk of domestic abuse and provide 

enhanced home security measures to enable victims to remain in their own homes 

 

 Ensuring that individuals accessing Council services who disclose they have been vic-

tims of domestic abuse are signposted to available support available and how to ac-

cess it 

 

 Having robust procedures in place to be followed by staff when victims of domestic 

abuse approach the Council for support 

 

 Working with Kent Police Schools Officers, education providers and partners working 

with young people to help children and young people to recognise signs of domestic 

abuse and VAWG and how to access help and support early on 
 

Priority 2: Working in Partnership to tackle Domestic Abuse and VAWG 
 

 Providing appropriate staffing and work with partner agencies to deliver the One Stop 

Shop Service enabling victims to receive free advice, information and support from a 

range of services under one roof One Stop Shops in Kent in year 2019. 

 

 Working in collaboration with the domestic abuse commissioned service providers and 

voluntary sector agencies in Gravesham to ensure that victims and their children con-

sistently receive the best support available. 

 

 Minimising potential risks to victims by making appropriate referrals to and supporting 

the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) process 

 

 Attending and having an active role in the multi-agency North Kent Domestic Abuse 

Forum. 

 

 Working with key partners to deliver an annual conference and social event with a 

target public audience from Gravesham’s communities identified as under-reporting to 

help reduce stigma and cultural barriers that may be preventing victims of domestic 

abuse and/or VAWG from seeking help and advice. 

 

 Collaborating with partner agencies working directly with young people to safeguard 

young women and girls against the risks of exploitation and harm. 

 

Page 38

https://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/latest-news-articles-advice/one-stop-shops/


7 | P a g e  
 

 Work toward attaining the Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) accreditation to 

improve the housing sector’s response to domestic abuse through the introduction and 

adoption of an established set of standards and an accreditation process. 

 
Priority 3:  Education, Communication and Campaigning 
 

 Ensuring that Council staff and Members receive appropriate training to identify do-

mestic abuse and how to support victims. 

 

 Ensuring that all new staff receive domestic abuse and safeguarding training as a 

standard part of their induction into the workforce. 

 

 Delivering Bystander training to Council staff to enable them to challenge unacceptable 

and inappropriate behaviour and bring about attitudinal change to reinforce messages 

defining the boundaries of unacceptable behaviour. 

 

 Continuing to deliver the Council White Ribbon Campaign Action Plan to prevent 

VAWG including through staff training to challenge behaviour that perpetrates gender 

inequality and encouraging staff to become White Ribbon Ambassadors and Champi-

ons. 

 

 Supporting the annual 16 Days of Action #SeeKnowSpeakOut Campaign between 25 

November-10 December with a programme of daily messaging events to promote 

broader awareness of domestic abuse and VAWG, services available and to encour-

age reporting both by victims and third parties.  

 

 Using community engagement events as opportunities to raise awareness domestic 

abuse and VAWG issues and provide information about services available to support 

anyone experiencing these issues.    

 
Priority 4: Helping to Create Safe Public Environments 
 

 Recognising that both domestic abuse and VAWG can occur outside the home, taking 

steps to improve personal safety in public spaces through practical improvements in-

cluding CCTV, enhanced lighting and redesigning public spaces 

 

 Delivering the Safer Streets Project and working with local businesses to provide Safe 

Spaces within their premises which can be used by anyone finding themselves in a 

vulnerable situation to access help and support. 

 

 Offering Bystander training to local businesses (particularly the hospitality sector) so 

that staff feel equipped to safely challenge unacceptable behaviour that they witness 

 

 Working with local businesses, Kent Police and the G-Safe Business Crime Reduction 

Initiative to deliver the Best Bar None Project to improve standards of personal safety 

within licensed premises.  

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



8 | P a g e  
 

Priority 5: Preventing Offending and Re-offending 

 
 Raising awareness of and promoting the uptake of the Kent Perpetrator Programme 

available to Gravesham residents (victims of domestic abuse and their partners) to 

help perpetrators who want help and support to change their behaviour 

  

 Working with Kent Police and domestic abuse services to better understand victims’ 

decisions for withdrawing from a prosecution against their perpetrator and identify and 

address any gaps in support that could be filled to prevent this and the risk of repeat 

victimisation 

 

 By supporting law enforcement partners in holding identified perpetrators to account 

to increase the level of successful prosecutions and convictions of offenders of domes-

tic abuse and VAWG. 

 

 Ensure that Council procedures and policies are robust to reflect that domestic abuse 

and violence against women and girls will not be tolerated and that perpetrators are 

held to account. 

 

CONSULTATION 

The above priorities were reported to the council’s Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 
on 10 November 2022.  They were presented at the Know, See, Speak Out - Be Domestic 
Abuse Aware conference, hosted by the council on 15 November 2022, and attendees and 
other partners, agencies and parties were asked to formally comment on them during No-
vember/December 2022.   

No requests to substantially amend these priorities have been received, but the discussions 
and activity during this period have been invaluable in the development of this strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DOMESTIC ABUSE – FURTHER RESOURCES 

Specialist domestic abuse support in Kent is available from Victim Support.  Call 0808 168 
9111. 

Page 40



9 | P a g e  
 

Additional resources can be found on the Kent & Medway Domestic Abuse website - 
Domestic Abuse (domesticabuseservices.org.uk) 

Report a crime or incident  

https://www.police.uk/pu/contact-the-police/report-a-crime-incident 

Worried about a child 

https://www.kscmp.org.uk/guidance 

Protection against Stalking – if you feel you are being stalked and not in immediate danger 

www.protectionagainststalking.org 

Clarion Domestic Abuse Service 

www.myclarionhousing.com/about-us/contact-us/servicestatus/. 

galop Supporting LGBT + people who have experienced domestic abuse 

www.galop.org.uk 

Respect – working with domestic abuse perpetrators, male victims and young people using 
violence in their close relationships 

www.respect.uk.net 

Sign Health – working to improve the health and wellbeing of deaf people. Deaf-led service 
for Deaf people who have or are experiencing domestic abuse 

https://signhealth.org.uk/ 

Rethink Sahayak Asian Mental Health Helpline – Offers a culturally sensitive listening and 
information service for the Asian Community. 

https://www.rethink.org 

Mankind – confidential helpline available for male victims of domestic abuse  

https://www.mankind.org.uk/ 

Gravesham Domestic Abuse One Stop Shop Every Thursday 9.30am-12.00pm.  Kent 
Room, Woodville, Gravesham Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU Free 
advice and information, no appointment necessary 

Specific questions about the Strategy contact: community.safetyunit@gravesham.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 41

https://www.domesticabuseservices.org.uk/
https://www.police.uk/pu/contact-the-police/report-a-crime-incident
https://www.kscmp.org.uk/guidance
http://www.protectionagainststalking.org/
http://www.myclarionhousing.com/about-us/contact-us/servicestatus/
http://www.galop.org.uk/
http://www.respect.uk.net/
https://signhealth.org.uk/
https://www.rethink.org/
https://www.mankind.org.uk/
mailto:community.safetyunit@gravesham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 43 Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Arts & Cultural Strategy Update
	Action Plan 23.24 appendix to report

	6 Cascades Leisure Centre - Consultation Process for New Leisure Centre - Information Report
	7 Domestic Violence Against Women & Girls Abuse Strategy
	Gravesham Draft VAWG & Domestic Abuse Strategy

	10 Community Safety Partnership – Draft Strategic Assessment 2022 - Summary of Key Findings
	Appendix - Draft SA 2022 - Summary of Key Findings (002)


